1969

Calvin L. Rampton, Governor of the State of Utah, and The State Of Utah v. Haven J. Barlow, President of the Senate of the State of Utah and Lorin N. Pace, Speaker of the House Of Representatives of the State of Utah, Et Al.: Brief of Plaintiffs and Appellants

NATURE OF CASE

This is an action brought by the State of Utah and its Governor for a declaratory judgment that Section 5(1) of Senate Bill 10 (Chapter 138, Laws of Utah, 1969), passed by the 38th Legislature of the

State of Utah, is unconstitutional and invalid insofar as it purports to confer upon the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives power to appoint members to the State Board of Higher Education.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The District Court, after hearing argument and considering memoranda submitted by the parties, filed its memorandum decision and entered a judgment declaring that said Section 5(1) of Senate Bill 10 is constitutional and valid in all respects, and denied all relief sought by plaintiffs.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs seek reversal of the judgment and remand to the District Court with directions to enter a judgment declaring Section 5(1), Senate Bill 10, unconstitutional and invalid insofar as it purports to confer upon the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives power to appoint members to the State Board of Higher Education and granting appropriate relief to plaintiffs.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The 38th Legislature of the State of Utah enacted Senate Bill 10, portions of which became effective

on May 13, 1969, with the remaining provisions becoming effective on July 1, 1969. The bill provides for a State Board of Higher Education to control, manage and supervise all public institutions of higher education in the State of Utah. Prior to enactment of Senate Bill 10, the various colleges and universities throughout the State were governed by boards of regents or trustees whose members—other than those serving ex officio—were appointed by the Governor with the consent of the Senate. Statutes providing for the creation and functions of such boards of regents or trustees were repealed by the bill.

Section 5(1) of the bill provides:

“The state board of higher education shall consist of fifteen resident citizens of the state, nine of whom shall be appointed by the governor with consent of the senate. Three members of the board shall be appointed by the president of the senate and three members by the speaker of the house of representatives in the manner provided herein. Not more than eight members shall, at any time, be from one political party. In making appointments to the board, persons shall be selected from the state at large with due consideration for geographical representation.”

After plaintiffs filed their complaint in the District Court, and before the matter could be set for

hearing on plaintiffs' application for a preliminary injunction, the effective date arrived for that portion of the bill providing for appointments to the board. Immediately thereafter, defendants, Barlow and Pace, made appointments to the board. Subsequently, plaintiffs moved for leave to amend their complaint to add as defendants the six members designated by the defendants. The motion was granted and the added defendants appeared in the action, asserting the right to serve as members of the board.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

SECTION 5(1) OF SENATE BILL 10 PASSED BY THE 38TH LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF UTAH WHICH VESTS POWER OF APPOINTMENT TO THE STATE BOARD OF HIGHER EDUCATION IN MEMBERS OF THE LEGISLATURE VIOLATES ARTICLE VII, SECTION 10, CONSTITUTION OF UTAH, WHICH RESERVES SUCH POWER OF APPOINTMENT TO THE GOVERNOR OF THE STATE AND IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AND INVALID.

The power of the governor of the State of Utah to appoint state officers is found in Article VII, Section 10, Constitution of Utah, which provides:

The governor shall nominate, and by and with the consent of the Senate, appoint all state and district officers whose offices are established by this constitution, or which may be created by law, and whose appointment or election is not otherwise provided for * * *

The principal point of contention between plaintiffs and defendants, in connection with the above provision is over the meaning of the words "whose appointment * * * is not otherwise provided for * * *". Did the framers of the constitution intend, as defendants claim, that the legislature could provide for appointment of state officers by itself, its members or others whenever it by law created a new office or whenever the constitution is silent as to the matter of appointment? Or, was it their intention to provide, as plaintiffs contend, that the appointive power is vested in the governor, as chief executive officer of the state, except where the constitution provides for a different method of appointment?

Much has already been said in this action about whether the words "provided for" constitute a prepositional phrase, and if so, whether the phrase relates to the noun "constitution" or to "by law"; whether or not the last clause is a dependent adjective clause; or whether or not the framers of the constitution were familiar with the importance of

the word "herein." Plaintiffs suggest that such analyses, while interesting and provocative, are of little help in solving the issue at hand. Certainly members of the constitutional convention were familiar with the word "herein" and used it elsewhere in the constitution. Obviously, the meaning of Section 10 would be much clearer had they used it following the words "except as otherwise provided," but it is not clear and the lower court so found by saying "I am not prepared to say that Article VII Section 10 of the Utah Constitution is plain, direct and unambiguous."

Defendants have stated, had the framers intended the construction urged by plaintiffs they would simply have stated "except as otherwise provided *herein*." But it is more plausible to argue that had they intended to give the legislature the authority to provide for any or all future appointments, they would have said "except as may be otherwise provided by law" or "except as shall otherwise be provided." Instead, the present verb "is" was used. It would seem then that they were referring to the present, that is the time when the constitution was being drafted and consequently felt no need to add the word "herein."

This construction is supported by the fact that the framers of the constitution, in those instances in

which they intended to confer upon the legislature the power to supersede provisions in the original constitution, expressly made such provisions subject to subsequent prescription, provision, or fixing “by law.” For example, Article VII, Section 20, provides:

“The Governor, Secretary of State, Auditor, Treasurer, Attorney-General, Superintendent of Public Instruction, and such other State and district officers as may be provided for *by law*, shall receive for their services monthly a compensation as fixed *by law*.
 * * * * *
 * * * * *

(emphasis added).

Additional examples of the framers’ adherence to the words “by law” when referring to future action by the legislature are cited in Appendix A below.

In fact, even Article VII, Section 10, itself demonstrates that the framers distinguished references to future action by using the words “by law.” The last sentence provides:

“* * * * * If the office of secretary of state, state auditor, state treasurer, attorney general or superintendent of public instruction be vacated by death, resignation or otherwise, it shall be the duty of the governor to fill the same by appointment, and appointee shall hold his office

until his successor shall be elected and qualified, as may be *by law* provided.” (emphasis added).

Inasmuch as Article VII, Section 10, avoids using language such as “except as otherwise provided by law,” or “as may otherwise be prescribed by the legislature,” or “as may be fixed by law” (or fails to use the future verb “shall”) it seems evident that the language “whose appointment * * * is not otherwise provided for,” was intended to mean “not otherwise provided for in the constitution.” Words used in a constitution must be presumed to have been carefully chosen so that each word will have a meaning or to have been measured in such a way as to convey certain and definite meaning with as little as possible left to implication. *Behnke v. New Jersey Highway Authority*, 13 N.J. 14, 97 A.2d 647 (1953). *Chadwick v. City of Crawfordsville*, 216 Ind. 399, 24 N.E.2d 937 (1940). Further, each provision should be construed so as to harmonize with all others with a view towards giving effect to each and every provision insofar as it can be consistent with construction of the instrument as a whole, 16 C.J.S. *Constitutional Law* §23 at 93 (1956).

Under the construction argued for by defendants the legislature could just as logically take the position that it could otherwise provide for the appointment

of officers whose offices are established by the constitution as well as those which may be created by law.

That the term "by law" refers to future action of the legislature was established in *State ex rel. Shields v. Barker*, 50 Utah 189, 167 P. 262 (1917), which said:

"What is meant by the expression 'as may be established by law' in the constitutional provision we have quoted? To our minds the expression admits of but one meaning, and that is, if, in the judgment of the Legislature, it becomes necessary to establish courts in addition to those enumerated in the constitutional provision, then the Legislature may, by law duly passed, create such other courts inferior to the Supreme Court as in the judgment of that body may be necessary. To be 'established by law' means just what it says, namely, by a law duly passed by the law making power of this state. * * *"

Plaintiffs' suggested construction is reasonable, inasmuch as the constitution does "otherwise provide for" the appointment or election of some state and district officers. For example, Article VI, Section 12, permits each house of the legislature to choose its own officers and employees; Article VI, Section 13, permits the legislature to fill vacancies in either house "in such manner as may be provided by law." Article VII, Section 1, provides for election of the executive officers of the state; Article VII, Section 11,

provides for an election to fill a vacancy in the office of governor; Article VIII, Section 3, provides for the selection of judges; Article VIII, Section 8, impliedly provides for the election of justices of the peace; Article VIII, Section 10, provides for election of county attorneys and appointment of attorneys pro tempore; Article VIII, Section 14, provides for appointment of clerks and reporters; Article IX, Sections 1-4, provides for election of congressional representatives.

The extent of the governor's powers to appoint state and district officers, under Article VII, Section 10, is one that does not appear to have been decided by this court. Such decision was not made in *State ex rel. Hammond v. Maxfield*, 103 Utah 1, 132 P.2d 660 (1942), so heavily relied upon by defendants in the lower court.

In that case the 1941 legislature had created a new body known as the Engineering Commission and amended an earlier statute relating to the State Road Commission, thereby providing for the termination of tenure in office of the members of the State Road Commission. The act provided that members of the Engineering Commission would serve as members of the State Road Commission. The previously appointed members of the State Road Commission

brought a quo warranto action against persons appointed to the Engineering Commission to determine their right to hold office as members, ex officio, of the State Road Commission. The court held that the power of the legislature to terminate the incumbency of persons appointed to a state office for a fixed term depended upon the purpose for which termination was effective. Inasmuch as the legislature could create an office it could abolish it but, it said, this must be a genuine abolition and not something done under pretense. If it abolished an office and put another in its place, with substantially the same duties, it would be a device to unseat the incumbent and beyond the power of the legislature. The court stated (and this is the language relied upon by defendants):

“The courts are confronted with the principle that the power to create an office being in the legislature, ordinarily the power to abolish it must also reside there. At one and the same time the courts are confronted with another principle that the power to fill an office, at least if not otherwise provided for in the act creating the office, is executive and under a constitutional provision such as Art. VII, Sec. 10, of our Constitution, absent at least any contrary expression of the legislature, such power lies with the governor. This being the case the legislature has no power summarily to remove the incumbent.”

The language generally recognizes that the power of appointment is an executive one belonging to the governor. The statement "at least if not otherwise provided for in the act creating the office" is not even dicta. It was not necessary to the decision of the case, and merely shows that the court was not considering the question involved in the present case but was leaving it undecided. This is evident by use of the words "at least" twice in the same sentence. A detailed analysis of the case actually shows that it supports the position of the plaintiffs rather than the defendants. Additionally, the court pointed out the necessity of maintaining the separation of powers doctrine under the Utah Constitution, and said:

"On no other basis can the various concepts of legislative power under constitutional provisions such as ours be reconciled or fitted together with the power given the executive."

The only other cases which appear to touch on the question are *McCornick v. Pratt*, 8 Utah 294, 30 P. 1091 (1892), *Duncan v. McAlister*, 1 Utah 81 (1873) and *People ex rel. Dickson v. Clayton*, 4 Utah 421, 11 P. 206 (1886). The *McCornick* case involved a construction of the Organic Act of the Utah Territory which provided:

"* * * The Governor shall nominate, and, by and with the advice and consent of the Legis-

lative Council, appoint all officers not herein otherwise provided for; * * *."

After noting that members of the board of trustees of the agricultural college were "officers" within the meaning of the Organic Act, the court held that a statute which designated persons to serve as trustees was invalid, but that the provisions establishing the board to be appointed by the governor and the legislative council were valid. The court also said:

"* * the legislature has authority to create a board of construction for the college, but has no authority to appoint the members of the board, if they are 'officers,' within the meaning of the organic act."

Cases reaching a similar result were *Duncan v. McAlister, supra*, and *People v. Clayton, supra*, both of which recognized the right of the general assembly to create an office but not to fill it. Those cases, with *McCornick v. Pratt, supra*, would appear to be controlling on the issues presented in the instant case except for the fact that the Organic Act then in force did use the word "herein" in describing the appointing powers of the governor.

In their argument before the lower court defendants took differing positions with respect to use of the word "herein" in describing the appointing powers of the governor. They argued on the one hand that

the omission of the word from Article VII. Section 10, must have been intentional and that the legislature, therefore, may provide by law for the appointment of officers. They argued, also, that the provision was probably copied after the constitution of Colorado—or some other state—which seems to be inconsistent with the intentional omission.

Plaintiffs are inclined to agree with defendants' second argument, that the provision was copied after that of a sister state and therefore omission of the word "herein" has no particular significance in interpretation of the section. This finds support in the reports of the proceedings of the Utah Constitutional Convention where there is no suggestion that elimination of the word "herein" was even considered by the body. The absence of argument about or mention of elimination of "herein" would seem to indicate that the framers of the constitution, adopting the wording of similar constitutional provisions in other states, did not believe they were changing established law. This is particularly so in light of the fact that the *Pratt*, *McAlister* and *Clayton* cases were not decided on the basis of the word "herein."

But even if we were to concede that omission of the word "herein" was deliberate, the omission of the word gives scant support to a contention that the

framers of the constitution intended to confer upon the legislature authority to make appointments.

In light of the territorial and constitutional history of Utah, it would be logical to suppose that the convention eliminated the word "herein" because it was aware of provisions in existing territorial statutes and the Enabling Act affecting the election or appointment of the state officers. In Section 19 of the Enabling Act (28 Stat. 107), for instance, the following is found:

"* * * the State government formed in pursuance of said constitution, as provided by the constitutional convention, shall proceed to exercise all of the functions of state officers; and all laws in force made by said Territory at the time of its admission into the union shall be in force in said State, except as modified or changed by this Act or by the constitution of the State; and the laws of the United States shall have the same force and effect within the said State as elsewhere within the United States."

This language strongly suggests that the framers of the constitution understood that there might be in existence extra-constitutional provisions relating to the appointment or election of certain state officers and that a general provision in the constitution would be necessary to achieve continuity and avoid gaps or lapses in the method of appointment and the tenure of officers.

As previously conceded, it is reasonable to suppose that the framers of the constitution knew the meaning of the word "herein." It is also reasonable to suppose that they knew the difference between present and future tenses. If the defendants' construction is correct, there is no reason why the legislature could not also "provide for" its own appointment of all "officers whose offices are established by this constitution."

Plaintiffs' argument about the significance of the omission of "herein" is supported by the territorial *Pratt*, *McAlister*, and *Clayton* cases, which were not decided on the basis of the word "herein."

In *People v. Clayton*, *supra*, for example, the issue was decided in the following language quoting from an earlier Idaho case:

"All the powers intrusted to government in the territories as well as the states are divided into three departments: the executive, the legislative and the judicial. It is wisely provided that the functions appropriate to each of these branches of the government shall be vested in a separate body of public servants, and it is apparent that the perfection of the system requires that the lines which separate and divide these departments shall be clearly defined and closely followed. It is also true, as a general proposition, that the powers confided by the fundamental law to one of these departments cannot be exercised by another.

And where, as in this case, the organic law provides that the governor, by and with the advice and consent of the legislative council shall appoint the territorial officers, we do not think the authority can be delegated to another body, and the governor thus divested of his prerogative. If this can be done and sanctioned in one instance, it may be in others, and by this method, or in the exercise of the two-third legislative rule over the governor's veto, the executive may be deprived of the appointing power which congress has wisely confided to the executive branch of the territorial government."

In view of this strong language, it is difficult to see how the framers, if they wanted to alter executive powers, could safely feel that they were doing so merely by omission of the word "herein."

The fact that the word "herein" is used in Article V, Section 1, is of no significance in arriving at a determination that the word was intentionally omitted from Article VII, Section 10. Without the use of the word such as "herein" or "in this constitution" the last clause in Article V, Section 1, would have no logical meaning.

A number of cases support plaintiff's position. Many of these deal with the problem on the broader basis of the separation of powers doctrine, and will generally be discussed under Point II below. Several

cases have, however, considered the meaning of provisions similar to Utah's Article VII, Section 10. For example, North Carolina's constitution provided:

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