1969

Calvin L. Rampton, Governor of the State of Utah, and The State Of Utah v. Haven J. Barlow, President of the Senate of the State of Utah and Lorin N. Pace, Speaker of the House Of Representatives of the State of Utah, Et Al.: Brief of Defendants and Respondents

NATURE OF CASE

The statement of case is adequately set forth in the appellants' brief.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The appellants filed suit in the District Court of the Third Judicial District challenging the constitutionality of Section 5(1), Senate Bill 10, 38th Legislature of the State of Utah, 53-48-5 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, known as the Higher Education Act of 1969. Answer was duly filed and the matter submitted to the trial court on the pleadings. The matter was heard before the Honorable Merrill C. Faux, District Judge, and on the 25th day of June, 1969, judgment was entered declaring that the challenged statute was constitutional.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Repondents submit this court should affirm the decision of the Utah District Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The statement of facts is adequately set forth in appellant's brief.

ARGUMENT

I

ARTICLE VII, SECTION 10 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH PERMITS THE LEGISLATURE TO MAKE APPOINTMENTS TO STATE OFFICES WHICH IT CREATES.

The principal basis upon which the plaintiff rests his case is Article VII, Section 10 of the Constitution of Utah. It is the plaintiffs' claim that the provisions of Senate Bill 10, Section 5(1), passed by the 38th Legislature of the State of Utah, 53-48-5, U.C.A., 1953 (Higher Education Act of 1969) providing for the appointment of three resident citizens to the State Board of Higher Education by each the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives, impinges upon the Governor's executive right to appoint officers of the state.

Insofar as the Article VII, Section 10, is pertinent here, it provides as follows:

"The Governor shall nominate, and by and within the consent of the senate, appoint all state and district offices whose offices are established by this Constitution, or which may be created by law, and whose appointment or election is not otherwise provided for . . ."

Defendants contend that this provision requires the

governor to nominate and appoint *state* and *district* officers in two situations: First, where the offices are created by the Constitution, and second, where new offices are created by law which does not provide for their appointment or election.

The plaintiff interprets this language to mean that:

“ . . . the foregoing provision was intended to place in the governor, as chief executive officer of the state, the power to appoint all executive officers whose election or appointment is not otherwise provided for in the constitution.”

However, the portion of the Constitutional section involved does not support this conclusion. The section in clear language clearly establishes two areas wherein the Governor is directed by the Constitution to make appointments. Article VII Section 10. First, he:

“ . . . shall nominate, and by and with the consent of the Senate, appoint all state and district officers whose offices are established by this Constitution, . . . ”

Second, he shall appoint officers to fill offices:

“ . . . which may be created by law, *and whose appointment or election is not otherwise provided for.*” (Emphasis ours.)

The petitioner interprets the language “otherwise provided for” to refer to the Constitution. Had this been the intent of the framers of the Constitution, the provision would simply have stated that:

“The governor shall nominate, and by and with the consent of the senate, appoint all state and district officers whose offices are established

by this constitution or created by law, except as otherwise provided herein."

A grammatical reading of the provision also demonstrates the folly of plaintiff's strained interpretation. The main clause of the sentence is:

"The governor shall nominate, and by and with the consent of the senate, appoint all state and district officers whose offices are established by this constitution, . . ."

This expresses a complete thought. More simplified, the main thought could be stated as follows:

"The governor shall appoint and nominate all state and district constitutional officers."

The second half of the sentence is a subordinate qualifying clause, which limits the main clause. The prepositional phrase "provided for" refers back to the closest noun in the same clause, so that the grammatical sense becomes, and whose appointment or election is not otherwise provided for "by law." If the prepositional phrase "provided for" is made to refer to the noun "constitution" which appears in the previous main clause, violence is done to a settled principal of English grammar which we should assume the authors of our Constitution understood. But as will appear, there are far more weighty considerations which compel an unstrained interpretation of this provision.

The plaintiff suggests that since various provisions of the Constitution, relating to the organization and duties of certain officers and agencies established by the

Constitution use the language "except as otherwise provided by law," or its equivalent, that the language of Article VII, Section 10 "whose appointment or election is not otherwise provided for" was intended to mean "provided for in the constitution." However, if an accurate grammatical reading of the constitutional section is made, the preposition phrase "provided for" refers to "by law." A proper grammatical reading of the sentence as it is written, makes this section entirely consistent in construction and form with the neighboring sections. An awkward and unnecessary repetition of terms would have resulted, i.e., ". . . or which may be created by law, and whose appointment or election is not otherwise provided for" *by law*.

The appointive power of the governor is conferred in the cases of future legislation to those instances where the legislature has not made other provision for appointment. The power to make appointments to public office does not inherently belong to the Governor, but must be derived from the Constitution or statutes implementing it. Nor does the appointive power necessarily belong to the executive branch of government. 38 *Am. Jur.* 2d, Governor, Section 5, p. 935, 42 *Am. Jur.*, Public Officers, Section 93. The Utah Constitution is not one of grant, but one of limitation, and consequently the Legislature is not restricted in its enactments unless the restriction is expressly or by necessary implication set forth by the Constitution itself. *University of Utah v. Board of Examiners*, 4 U.2d 408, 295 P.2d 348 (1956).

The people of the state are the main spring of

government, and it is to them that the power of selecting individuals for office inherently belongs. The power of appointment to public offices "belongs where the people have chosen to place it by their Constitution or laws." 42 *Am. Jur.*, Public Officers, Section 92. See Article I Section 2, Utah Constitution: "All political power is inherent in the people; . . ." The people through their Constitution may confer the power to make appointments upon the Governor or upon other selected or designated officers. See 67 C.J.S., Officers, Section 29, p. 157, 97 A.L.R. 2d 361. Each State Constitution is unique because the people of the various states, through their constitutions, have authorized public officers, quasi public officers or private organizations to make appointments to public offices

This principle is so well settled that it has not previously been drawn into question before the Supreme Court of our State, except in an indirect way in the case of *State ex rel Hammond v. Maxfield*, 103 Utah 1, 132 P.2d 660 (1942) where this Court had before it a case challenging the constitutionality of an act of the Legislature of 1933 which created a new body or commission known as the Engineering Commission. The act also amended some sections of the statutes of Utah relating to the State Road Commission, and provided for the termination of the tenure in office of persons then members of that commission. The act provided that members of the Engineering Commission " . . . shall serve as the members of the State Road Commission". The principal question on appeal was whether or not the Legis-

lature, as part of the plan of reorganization, could provide for the termination of the incumbency of the occupants of the offices of the State Road Commissioners on the appointment and qualification of members of the newly created Engineering Commission to serve ex officio as members of the State Road Commission. This court sustained the validity of the Act. The following is taken from the opinion:

“The courts are confronted with the principle that the power to create an office being in the Legislature, ordinarily the power to abolish it must also reside there. *At one and the same time the courts are confronted with another principle that the power to fill an office, at least if not otherwise provided for in the act creating the office, is executive and under a constitutional provision such as Art. VII, Sec. 10, of our Constitution, absent at least any contrary expression of the legislature, such power lies with the governor. . . .* (Emphasis ours).”

Of particular importance in the instance case is the language of the court to the effect that the power to fill an office, “*. . . if not otherwise provided for in the act creating the office . . .*” is executive in nature, and in the absence of contrary expression of the legislature, such becomes the governor’s prerogative. Thus the legislature clearly has the authority under the Constitution to appoint persons to the state offices.

As will be observed, Idaho, Montana and Colorado have constitutional provisions which are virtually identical to Article VII, Section 10 of the Utah Constitution.

As will appear, the Supreme Court of each of those states has interpreted this provision to mean that the legislature can appoint officers to fill offices which it creates.

The Supreme Court of Idaho in the case of *Ingard v. Barker*, 27 Idaho 124, 147 Pac. 293, 294, 295, discussed this provision in detail. There the Governor directed the Secretary of State to issue commissions as members of the State Board of Horticultural Inspection to the plaintiff and two other individuals. The secretary of state complied with the direction of the governor insofar as it pertained to one of the individuals but declined to comply with the same insofar as it pertained to the plaintiff and another, alleging that as to them the attempted appointment was void because it was in conflict with a state statute which provided:

“The State Board of Horticultural Inspectors shall consist of five (5) members, who shall be appointed by the Governor of the state, . . . ; and in making said appointments, the Governor shall consider any recommendations made by the State Horticultural Association as the proper person to be so appointed.”

The appointments of the governor were not individuals selected by the State Horticultural Association.

The plaintiff brought an original action in the Supreme Court for the purpose of securing a writ of mandate directing the defendant, as secretary of state, to issue to him a commission as a member of the State Board of Horticultural Inspection. One of the two questions submitted for decision was:

“It is competent for the legislature to provide that the State Horticultural Association shall have the right of authority to present or recommend to the governor a list of the names from which he must appoint the members of the State Board of Horticultural Inspection?”

“Section 1, art. 2, of the Constitution, provides that:

“The powers of the government of this state are divided into three distinct departments, the legislative, executive and judicial; and one person or collection of the persons charged with the exercise of powers properly belong to one of these departments, shall exercise any powers properly belonging to either of the others, except as in this Constitution expressly directed or permitted.”

Section 6 of article 4 provides that:

“The Governor shall nominate and, by and with the consent of the Senate, appoint all officers whose offices are established by this Constitution, or which may be created by law and whose appointment or election is not otherwise provided for.”

“Section 1 of article 2, and section 6 of article 4 supra, have been construed by the Supreme Court of this state in the case of *In re Inman*, 8 Idaho, 398, 69 Pac. 120, and in the case of *Elliott v. McCrea*, 23 Idaho 524, 130 P. 785, to the effect that the Legislature may create an office or offices, which may be filled by appointment either by the chief executive or by any person, board, corporation, or association of individuals, and that such appointment would not be in conflict with the Constitution or an improper exercise of power

properly belonging to the executive department of the state government; and as stated by this court in the case of *Elliott v. McCrea*, supra, the Constitution itself provides the method of selection of legislative, executive, and judicial officers named in the Constitution.

“(2) The framers of the Constitution could not foresee what offices might be created by laws subsequently enacted, and so they provided that such offices should be filled by the Governor, unless the appointment or election should be otherwise provided for. The legislature, in enacting the statute in question, has exercised its constitutional right in naming and designating the officer or officers who shall make these particular appointments.

* * *

“(4) Primarily the rule is well settled by numerous authorities that, in the absence of a constitutional provision to the contrary, any one of the three departments of government may, under the authority of the statute, appoint for any class of office in any of the three governmental departments. (Citing cases.)

“(5) A state legislative body, existing by virtue of a constitutional provision, has power to enact any laws that are not expressly or by necessary implication prohibited either by the federal Constitution or by the Constitution of the state. (Citing cases including *Kimball v. Grantsville*, 19 Ut. 368, 57 P. 1, 45 L.R.A. 628.)

“(6) The power to create an office, unless otherwise provided by the Constitution, is vested in the legislative department of the government. The method of filling the office is to be determined by the Legislature, in the absence of constitutional provision. (Citing cases.)

“The power of the Legislature to pass laws regulating appointments to statutory offices is absolute, unless restrained by some constitutional provision. (Citing cases.)

“Section 6 of article 4 of the Constitution provides:

“ ‘The Governor shall nominate and, by and with the consent of the Senate, appoint all officers whose offices are established by this Constitution, or which may be created by law and whose appointment or election is not otherwise provided for.’

“Under this constitutional provision, the Legislature has the power to create an office and provide for the filling of the same whenever such office is not established by the Constitution, and to provide for the appointment of such officer either by the chief executive or in any manner that in the wisdom of the legislature it may deem proper; there being no inhibition in the Constitution as to the creation of other offices than those named therein, but, on the contrary, there being an express recognition of such power in the following terms: ‘Or which may be created by law, and whose appointment or election is not otherwise provided for.’ Many officers in this state have been created by law that were not provided for in the Constitution, and in numerous instances the manner of their appointment has been clearly provided for by law. The chief executive in certain instances has been given the absolute power to nominate and appoint persons to fill certain offices created by the Legislature. This however, is not true in all cases. In some instances it requires the concurrence of certain state officials, whose offices are provided for by the Constitu-

tion, in order to make appointments by the Governor legal, in others the concurrence of the Senate, and in still others, the concurrence of a majority of certain boards.

“(7) That the Legislature may limit the power of the chief executive in the matter of making appointments cannot be successfully refuted.” (Citing case.)

* * *

“(8) We have therefore reached the conclusion that section 1310, Rev. Codes, as amended, supra, is constitutional and not in violation of section 1, art. 2, and section 6, art. 4 of the Constitution of this state, and that it was clearly within the power of the Legislature to enact said statutory provision.”

In the earlier case of *Elliott v. McCrea*, 23 Idaho 524, 130 P. 785, 786 (1913), the constitutionality of an Idaho House Bill was challenged because it provided for the appointment of drainage commissioners for the district by the judge of the district court of the judicial district in which the drainage district was located. The following is taken from the Court's opinion sustaining the constitutionality of the bill:

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